ELECTRONICALLY FILED 2016 Oct 05 PM 7:42 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 115609

No. 16-115,609-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

ANTHONY STEPHEN NICHOLS,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the District Court of Riley County, Kansas,

Honorable Meryl Wilson, Judge

District Court Case Nos. 13-CR-556

Gerald E. Wells, #06500 Jerry Wells Attorney-at-Law *Attorney for Defendant-Appellant* P. O. Box 641 Lawrence, Kansas 66044 785-856-3925 Phone • 785-856-1583 Facsimile jerrywells@sunflower.com

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a direct criminal appeal from the Defendant Mr. Nichols' conviction by jury of Attempted Murder.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue I: Did the District Court err by not suppressing the information gained by the State from the examination of the contents of Mr. Nichols' cell phone based on the original warrant?

Issue II: Did the District Court err by denying Mr. Nichols' motion to suppress statements made by Mr. Nichols' in an interview with police officers?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On September 13, 2013, a Complaint was filed in the Riley County, Kansas, District Court, charging Mr. Nichols, the Defendant, with one count of Aiding and Abetting First Degree Murder. Mr. Nichols' co-defendants are listed as Christina Marie Love and James Christopher McKenith. (R.I, 20.)

A preliminary hearing was conducted by the Court on July 16, 2014, on the State's complaint against Mr. Nichols. (R.XI.) Christina Love, one of Mr. Nichols' codefendants in the State's complaint, testified on behalf of the State. (R.XI, 24-63.) Elizabeth Hartman, who identified herself as a crime lab technician for the Riley County Police Department (R.XI, 3-23), also testified for the State. At the end of the evidence, the Court bound Mr. Nichols' over for trial on one count of premeditated first degree murder. (R.XI, 65-66.)

What follows is a flurry of motions from Mr. Nichols. (R.I, 46, 57, 61, 63, 67, 72, 74, 76, and 80.) The State responds to Mr. Nichols' motions. (R.I, 82, 84, 86, 88, 90, 92, 94, 96, and 101.) Mr. Nichols files additional motions. (R.I, 403*, 115, 120, 124, and 136; R.II, 1, 7, 11, 13, and 20.) [*Note: The Court should note that the Table of Contents shows Mr. Nichols' Motion for *Jackson Denno* Hearing is page 403 of R.I; however, the actual page number of that motion is page 103, R.I, 103.]

Most significant of Mr. Nichols' motions is his Motion for a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing (R.I, 403, or 103); a Motion to Suppress Search (R.I, 115-119); a second Motion

to Suppress Search (R.I, 120-123); a third Motion to Suppress (R. II, 7-10); a Motion to Suppress Search of Defendant's Facebook Account (R.II, 13-18); another Motion to Suppress (R.II, 20-22); and a Motion to Suppress Search of the Defendant's Phone. (R.II, 61-81.) The State responds. (R.II, 24, 28, 30, 32, 34 and R.II, 84-88.) The Court conducted three separate motion hearings. (R.XX, R. XXI, R. XXII.)

On October 8, 2014, the Court convened the first motion hearing. (R.XX.) At the hearing, the Court sustains Mr. Nichols' motion for discovery, but Mr. Nichols' objects to reciprocal discovery and the Court takes it under advisement. (R.XX, 3-6.) The Court sustains Mr. Nichols' motion to reveal any deals or plea bargains which were made by the State. (R.XX, 6.) The State does not object to Mr. Nichols' motion for prior convictions of any witnesses. (R.XX, 6.) The Court raises Mr. Nichols' Motion to Prohibit Antemortem Photographs (R.I, 63-66), the State concedes the motion (R.XX, 7). The Court orders a sequestration order. (R.XX, 8.) The Court takes up Mr. Nichols' motion for an information, sustains the motion, and orders the State to provide information on gang affiliation. (R.XX, 11.) As to the motion on jury database information, the State agrees to follow the statute regarding character evidence. (R.XX, 13.) Mr. Nichols' agrees to waive speedy trial on his motion for a continuance of the trial. (R.XX, 17-18.)

On February 4, 2015, the Court conducted a second motion hearing. (R.XXI.) At the beginning of the hearing, the parties announced that a number of motions are disposed of by agreement. (R.XXI, 3.) The State presents evidence through testimony on a search of property located in Kansas City, Kansas.

Daniel Bortnick, who identified himself as a Riley County police officer, testifies that he obtained Facebook records of Mr. Nichols' Facebook account, pursuant to a warrant, (R.XXI, 8-9.)

Officer William Arnold, a Junction City police officer, testified that he had investigated a homicide case of the murder of Anthony Nixon, and that he obtained Facebook records for Mr. Nichols. (R.XXI, 12-23.)

Alan Riniker testified on behalf of the State, he identified himself as an investigator for the Riley County Police Department, and he stated that he took part in a search of the residence in Kansas City, Kansas. He identifies a search warrant in that regard, which includes the search of a 1996 Chevrolet Suburban. At the search conducted on September 11, 2013, there were K.B.I. agents and Kansas City police officers present. (R.XXI, 24-26.) Riniker testified that a Detective Johnson had applied for, and received, a search warrant in Riley County. Kansas City officers obtained a hardcopy of the warrant, but in the meantime, the officers executed the warrant. (R.XXI, 26-27.) On cross-examination, Detective Riniker confirmed that he had received an email copy of the warrant on his cellphone. (R.XXI, 28-31.)

Patricia Giordano testified on behalf of the State. She identified herself as a Junction City detective who had contact with Mr. Nichols while he was in custody on September 11, 2013. (R.XXI, 33.) She testified that, while Mr. Nichols was alone in the interview room, Mr. Nichols was lying on the floor and appeared to be asleep. (R.I, 35.) A Kansas City detective woke Mr. Nichols up. Giordano identified a transcript of discussions she and a Detective Jager had with Mr. Nichols and states that she had received a copy of the transcript. (R.XXI, 37.) Detective Jager interviewed Mr. Nichols. The detectives were armed at the time. Ms. Giordano testified that she filled out a

Miranda form with Mr. Nichols, and that Mr. Nichols stated that he knew his rights and he recited them. She testifies further that Mr. Nichols said it was unnecessary to read him his rights, but Giordano read him the *Miranda* warning anyway. (R.XXI, 38-40.) She states that Mr. Nichols signed the *Miranda* warning; and that the officers interviewed Mr. Nichols for one hour and a half, but stopped and advised Mr. Nichols that officers were executing a search warrant at his house and that they would be back after the search. (R.XXI, 42.)

Mr. Nichols was transported to Junction City. At Junction City, Giordano, along with Detective Brown, interviewed Mr. Nichols. Giordano identified a transcript of the Junction City interview and stated it was accurate. She continued the interview with Mr. Nichols, but does not re-read Mr. Nichols his *Miranda* warning. She acknowledges that the first interview took place 6 ½ hours earlier in Kansas City. (R.XXI, 44-45.) On cross-examination, Giordano admitted that Mr. Nichols had stated to her, "I don't want to talk about it now." Giordano did not take the comment as not wanting to talk about the investigation. (R.XXI, 46.) Giordano admits that Mr. Nichols also mentioned a head injury. (R.XXI, 48-49.) Giordano admits that no one administered the *Miranda* warning at the interview in Junction City, nor did anyone ask if Mr. Nichols remembered going over his *Miranda* rights in Kansas City. Giordano admits that Mr. Nichols was in custody. (R.XXI, 50-51.) Both parties argue the Motion to Suppress.

In its ruling, the Court notes that the officer present at the Kansas City search had a digital copy of the search warrant. (R.XXI, 60-61.) The Court admits that the Court had never been faced with a situation where a search had begun before the officers had received a hard copy of the warrant, but the Court determined that, under the

circumstances, a copy of the warrant was available on the officer's cellphone. The Court notes that the affidavit was lengthy. The Court denied Mr. Nichols' motion to suppress the search warrant. (R.XXI, 62-63.)

The Court takes up the search of the Facebook account of Mr. Nichols. The State argues that the warrant was issued based on a good faith belief by the officers that Mr. Nichols' Facebook account contained relevant information. (R.XXI, 63-65.) Counsel for Mr. Nichols counters that the warrant lacks specific information to show probable cause for a warrant, and, that the search of the Facebook account is a fishing expedition. (R.XXI, 65.) Additionally, Counsel argues that the warrant reaches too far. (R.XXI, 66.) The Court rules that the detective had a reasonable belief that the Facebook account had relevant information. The Court denies the motion to suppress Mr. Nichols' Facebook account records. (R.XXI, 68-69.)

The Court takes up the motion to suppress Mr. Nichols' statements to law enforcement. The State notes that there were three motions to suppress statements. The State argues that the Junction City interview was a continuation of the interview started in Kansas City, even though the interviews were 6 ½ hours apart. (R.XXI, 70.) The State asserts that Mr. Nichols' statement, "I don't want to talk about it now." was not a termination of the interview, only that Mr. Nichols' didn't want to talk about the guns. (R.XXI, 71.) Mr. Nichols, through Counsel, counters that Mr. Nichols was tired, had memory issues, and had suffered a prior gunshot wound to the head. Further, Mr. Nichols contended that the Junction City interview was concerning new material, and the officers did not re-mirandize Mr. Nichols, and should have re-mirandized Mr. Nichols, nor did the officers review the prior *Miranda* warning with Mr. Nichols. The, "I don't

want to talk about it now." remark, Mr. Nichols alleges is the invocation to stop the interview. (R.XXI, 72-74.)

The Court rules on the suppression motion. The Court notes that it was Mr. Nichols who struck up the conversation with Giordano, and that it was apparent that Mr. Nichols knew Giordano. It was clear to the Court that when Mr. Nichols indicated that he knew his rights and Giordano didn't have to read them, that Mr. Nichols fully understood his rights and waived them. The Court also notes that when Detective Jager asks Mr. Nichols if the officers could return to talk to them after the search warrant was executed, Mr. Nichols says yes. The Court further noted that Mr. Nichols did not have his rights re-read to him at Junction City some nearly 7 hours after the initial interrogation, however, the Court finds that the time period between interviews was reasonable, and, a continuation of the first interview, noting again that Mr. Nichols had agreed to speak to the officers after the conclusion of the search warrant. The Court further found that in context, the statement by Mr. Nichols, "I don't want to talk about it now.", was not an invocation of his right to cease the interview, but rather Mr. Nichols was indicating that he did not want to talk about the gun now. Finally, the Court denies Mr. Nichols' motion to suppress his statements. (R.XXI, 74-78.)

The Court takes up the State's motion to admit evidence that Mr. Nichols shot Anthony Nixon in Geary County. Mr. Nichols argues that whoever shot Nixon had nothing to do with Mr. Nichols' case where the victim is John Burroughs. The Court rules that the evidence is material to show that Mr. Nichols possessed the gun in both shootings. The Court denies Mr. Nichols' motion. (R.XXI, 78-88.)

The Court takes up the State's motion to admit Mr. Nichols' statements that he distributed drugs. Mr. Nichols objected, arguing that the information is more prejudicial

than probative. The Court rules a part of the statement can be admitted, but part is not probative and is not admitted. (R.XXI, 89-95.)

On March 5, 2015, the Court conducts a third hearing, this one on the seizure of Mr. Nichols' Facebook account records, and, the seizure and examination of Mr. Nichols' cellphone. (R.XXII). The Court first takes up the seizure of Mr. Nichols' cellphone, and the information obtained from that phone. Mr. Nichols argues that the original warrant allowed the cellphone to be seized, but did not allow the officers to go through the information on the cellphone. Mr. Nichols argues that the officers seized the phone and then, under that original search warrant, which Mr. Nichols believes is problematic, the officers go through the phone and review the contents. Based on the officers' review of the contents of the cellphone, the officers subsequently obtained a separate search warrant authorizing them to search the phone contents. Mr. Nichols' position is that it required a separate search warrant for the officers to be able to go through the contents of the cellphone, but regardless, the officer's searched the contents of the cellphone prior to getting that separate warrant, and as a result, the officer's search of the cellphone contents was not warranted and should be suppressed. In summary, Mr. Nichols argued that the seizure of the cellphone lacked probable cause, and, secondly, a separate warrant was necessary to at the information on the cellphone. (RXXII, 5-8.) The State counters that the warrant and affidavit were sufficient justification to support the officer's search of the contents of the cellphone, and, further, that if there isn't sufficient probable cause for the officer's to have search the cellphone, then allow the admission of the evidence based on good faith exception. (R.XXII, 8-11.) The Court rules there was probable cause for the officers to seize the cellphone and to look at the contents. The Court referenced that the

cellphone was unsecured and it was much like the plain view exception. The Court denied the motion to suppress the cellphone. (R.XXII, 11-12.)

The Court then takes up the motion in limine to limit the use of information derived from Mr. Nichols' Facebook account and any conclusions from that information. Mr. Nichols further argues that to do so is violative of case law that a prosecutor cannot make improper suggestions, insinuations, citing the *Morris* case. Further, the State, by use of the Facebook information, would be asking the jury to speculate in contraversion of case law. (R.XXII, 12-14.) The State argues that the test of admissibility is relevancy, and the Facebook information is relevant, and only asks the jury to draw reasonable inference. Finally, the State argues that it is not hearsay information, and is, therefore not excludable for that reason. (R.XXII, 15-19.) The Court concludes, basically, that the Court will not exclude evidence just because it is from the Facebook account, but the State will be required to show relevancy of each piece of evidence. (R.XXII, 20-21.)

The case proceeds to trial. [This Court will note that Mr. Nichols will provide a rather abbreviated statement of facts derived from the jury trial proceeding simply because the issues on this appeal will be argued more from the various motion hearings conducted by the Court (R.XX, R.XXI, and R.XXII), rather than the facts derived from the trial.]

David Jeffrey Kelley testified on behalf of the State that John Burroughs was an employee of a Country Club, he didn't show up for work, and it was later determined he was found dead. (R.XII, 137-140).

Tyrone Townsend testified that he was the first officer on the scene and he identified the position of a body, a male laying there, on the floor, on his right side, who he later learned was John Burroughs. (R.XII, 145.)

Vera McCullers testifies that she knew Mr. Nichols, and that in September of 2011 Mr. Nichols approached her and asked where "John" lived, and that she called Tina [Christina] Love on Mr. Nichols behalf. (R.XII, 148-153.) On cross-examination, Ms. McCullers states that Tina called her back and she advised Tina that Mr. Nichols was on his way over so Tina can show Mr. Nichols where John Burroughs lived. (R.XII, 154.) Ms. McCullers further stated that Tina told her that they thought she had killed somebody. (R.XII, 157.)

Christopher Briedenstein testified, on behalf of the State, that he was a Junction City police officer and responded to a "shots fired" call from a Mr. Douglas in the vicinity of where a body was found in Junction City, Kansas. (R.XXII, 163-166.) The body was determined to be that of Anthony Nixon. (R.XII, 166.)

Kirk Douglas testified on behalf of the State. He stated that he lives in Junction City, Kansas, and on the night Nixon's body was found, he saw an individual right before the gunshots were heard, and he identified the person to be Mr. Nichols. This person, Mr. Nichols, spoke to Mr. Douglas and then walked towards Claudette Ruble's house. On cross-examination, Mr. Douglas states he saw two people that night, and one person had a shotgun. He saw only one person get into a car. (R.XII, 170-179.)

Claudette Ruble testified on behalf of the State, that she lives with her husband on North Webster. She knew a man by the name of Anthony Nixon. She states that she knows Mr. Nichols, and that the night of the shooting she was on her porch with Anthony Nixon and a person called "Nae Nae". Claudette went inside of her house with Nae Nae and then she heard a gunshot. (R.XII, 182-185.) She went back out onto the porch, she sees Nixon on the ground, but did not see who shot Nixon. Mr. Nichols comes to Ms. Ruble's door and states everything will be okay. She identifies another man with Mr.

Nichols, but did not recognize him. (R.XII, 186-188.) Ms. Ruble acknowledges a fight occurred on her porch the night before the incident, but Mr. Nichols wasn't involved. (R.XII, 189-191.)

On July 29, 2015, the jury trial continued. The State called Robert Carl who identified himself as an officer with the Kansas City Police Department. He went to an apartment in Kansas City, Kansas, with other officers, and took Mr. Nichols into custody and secured the scene. (R.XIII, 200-208.)

Alan Riniker testified on behalf of the State. (R.XIII, 209-236.) Riniker identifies himself as an investigator with the Riley County Police Department, and identifies photographs, diagrams, and evidence identification regarding the death of John Burroughs. (R.XIII, 210-221.) Mr. Riniker identifies knife wounds on Burroughs' body. (R.XIII, 220-223.) Importantly, Riniker states that he took part in a search in Kansas City, Kansas. Mr. Nichols objects to the line of testimony, any discussion of the search warrants, based on prior agreements, and receives a "continuing objection". (R.XIII, 224-225.) Riniker recounts the search of Mr. Nichols' residence and who participated. A phone is collected and turned over to the Junction City Police Department. Photographs were taken of the residence. A firearm was recovered from a bucket. The officers searched a vehicle belonging to Mr. Nichols. A shotgun shell was recovered. (R.XIII, 225-236.)

The State presents the testimony of William R. Arnold. Mr. Nichols objects to Arnold's testimony and is granted a continuing objection based on previous argument. (R.XIII, 243.) Arnold describes the phone seized as a result of a search. Arnold testifies that he obtained records of a Facebook account. (R.XIII, 246-247.) He is an investigator with the Riley County Police Department. (R.XIII, 244.) Arnold states he is a cellphone

specialist and describes the cellphone and how a cellphone operates. (R.XIII, 251-260.) Arnold stated that the phone seized hit off a tower in Manhattan, Kansas. (R.XIII, 260.) Arnold testified about the records provided from Facebook. He further describes messages from the Facebook accounts attributed to Mr. Nichols. Mr. Nichols, through Counsel, objects on the admission of records based on prior arguments. (R.XIII, 262.) Certain information from the Facebook account is read into the record by Arnold. Mr. Nichols, again through Counsel, objects. (R.XIII, 262-270.) On cross-examination, Arnold admits that the account is a "dump" that contains 10,000 pieces of information. (R.XIII, 271-274.)

The State calls Calvin Sanders, who identifies himself as a detective with the Riley County Police Department. He testifies about the relationship between Tina Love and Nakisha Moore, her daughter. He obtained Ms. Moore's cellphone that he provided to Detective Bortnick. (R.XIII, 274-276.)

Daniel Bortnick testifies for the State that he is a detective with the Riley County Police Department, that he recovered a cellphone from the trailer of Mr. Burroughs, and downloaded the phone. Bortnick testified that there were calls made to Burroughs' cellphone from Nakisha Moore's phone number and Vera McCullers' phone number and a call from Burroughs' phone to Moore's phone. (R.XIII, 277-289.)

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