ELECTRONICALLY FILED

2016 Dec 16 PM 2:26 CLERK OF THE APPELLATE COURT CASE NUMBER: 115609

No. 16-115609-A

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSA
Plaintiff-Appellee

v.

ANTHONY STEPHEN NICHOLS

Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

Appeal from the District Court of Riley County, Kansas Honorable Meryl D. Wilson, Judge District Court Case No. 13 CR 556

Barry K. Disney, #13284
Senior Deputy County Attorney
Riley County Attorney's Office
105 Courthouse Plaza
Manhattan, KS 66502
(785) 537-6390
(785) 565-6896
bdisney@rileycountyks.gov
Attorney for Appellee

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

ARGUMENTS AND AUTHORITIES

Issue I Because the search warrant allowing for the seizure of the phone also allowed a search of the electronic data on the phone, the trial court did not err in allowing evidence contained in the data into evidence at the jury trial.

a. Preservation

In order for the court to have context, the State addresses the issue of preservation in subsection (d).

b. Standard of Review

When reviewing a motion to suppress evidence, this court reviews the factual underpinnings of a district court's decision by a substantial competent evidence standard and the ultimate legal conclusion drawn from those facts by a de novo standard. The ultimate determination of the suppression of evidence is a legal question requiring independent review. *State v. Horn*, 278 Kan. 24, 30, 91 P.3d 517 (2004).

c. Background

On September 11th, 2013, law enforcement officers searched the defendant's Kansas City, Kansas, apartment. (R. 21, 24). The search was authorized by a search warrant and a supporting affidavit. (R. 21, 24, R. 8, Ex. 3). A cellphone was seized from the apartment. (R. 13, 227). After seizing the cellphone, law enforcement conducted a search of the data

contained in the phone. (R. 13, 245–250). Two text messages from the cell phone were entered into evidence at trial. (R. 13, 270, R. 9, 54, 55). Prior to trial, the defendant filed two motions that, if successful, would have resulted in the suppression of cellphone and the text messages.

The first motion was titled "Motion To Suppress Search" and labeled as Accused Filing #11. This motion sought to suppress the entire search of the defendant's residence. (R. 1, 115). The motion asserted that the affidavit supporting the warrant lacked probable cause, and that the Riley County Police Department lacked jurisdiction to conduct a search in Wyandotte County. (R. 1, 117). A hearing on the motion was held on February 4, 2015. The trial court denied the motion. (R. 21, 60 – 63).

The second motion was titled "Motion To Suppress Search of Defendant's Phone" and labeled as Accused Filing #30. This motion was not directed at the seizure of the phone from the residence but rather the search of the contents of the phone. (R. 2, 61). This second motion took exception to the fact that the search warrant did not contain a search protocol. Stated another way, the objection was that the warrant should have set out a procedure in which the phone was to be searched. (R. 2, 63). The motion argued that, because the warrant did not provide a search protocol, the warrant was akin to a general warrant that allowed a broad sweep of the phone and should therefore be suppressed. (R. 2, 64). A hearing on this motion was held on March 5, 2015. The court denied the motion, finding that the warrant was not a general warrant and that probable cause existed to authorize the search. (R. 22, 12).

Argument and Authority

d. Defendant has failed to preserve this issue

At the trial court level the defendant did not assert that the search warrant failed to authorize a search of the contents of the phone. The "Motion To Suppress Search" labeled as Accused Filing #11 claimed that the warrant lacked probable cause and that the Riley County Police Department lacked jurisdiction to search the defendant's apartment. (R. 1, 115). During the February 4th, 2015, argument on this motion, the defense attorney argued these two issues and orally added a claim that the search was invalid because a physical copy of the warrant was not present when the search started. (R. 21, 57 - 59). Similarly, the "Motion To Suppress Search of Defendant's Phone" labeled as Accused Filing #30, claimed that in order to establish probable cause for the search of the phone the State needed to provide a "search protocol" that set forth the manner in which the contents of the phone would be searched. (R. 2, 63). This was the only issue raised in oral argument on March 5^{th} , 2015. (R. 22, 5 – 11). In fact, during argument on March 5^{th} , 2015, the defense attorney acknowledged that search warrant authorized the search of the contents of the phone when he stated:

"With regard to the phone, Your Honor, it is our position that if the Court will recall the search of Mr. Nichols' apartment in Kansas city, the Court has found that to be appropriate. But what we mentioned in there, and part of the reason we've kind of held these over to get it all lined up was part of that warrant also not only said hey, you can seize any phones, but if you find a phone then you can just go through it and you can see what's on there." (R. 22, 5-6). (emphasis added).

At the trial court level, the defense never alleged that the warrant was insufficient because it did not authorize a search of the contents of the phone. A point not raised in the

trial court cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Solomon*, 257 Kan. 212, 222, 891 P.2d 407 (1995). Because the defendant failed to raise this at the trial level, he should not be allowed to raise that issue on appeal.

e. The search warrant allowed for the search of the cellphone data

Even if the defendant is allowed to raise this issue it should be denied because the assertion is wrong. The search of the defendant's apartment was authorized under search warrant 13MR143. (R. 21, 24, R. 8, Ex. 3). Among the items authorized to be searched by warrant 13MR143 was the following:

- "Cellular telephones accessible to Nichols and McKenith" and
- Electronic devises capable of transmitting electronic data, media, or other information, and the information contained therein, including but not limited to: Call logs, to include incoming, outgoing and missed calls, Phonebook and contacts to include phone numbers, and e-mail addresses SMS (Text) / MMS (Multimedia) messages and attached multimedia files, to include incoming and outgoing,
- The authorization to retrieve, review, view, store, and record the data seized, observed, discovered, or otherwise located. (Emphasis added R. 8, Ex. 3).

Clearly, and without ambiguity, the warrant allowed both the seizure of cellphone and the search of the information contained therein including text messages.

f. A search protocol is not required

If the defendant's brief can be construed as arguing that the search warrant for the cellphone was invalid because it did not contain a "search protocol," this argument should be deemed as abandoned. The defendant fails to cite any authority for this proposition. An issue is abandoned if a litigant fails to adequately brief it. *State v. Rojas-Marceleno*, 295

Kan. 525, 543, 285 P.3d 361 (2012). Likewise, pressing a point without pertinent authority, or without any showing why it is sound despite a lack of supporting authority, is akin to failing to brief an issue. *McCain Foods USA, Inc. v. Central Processors, Inc.*, 275 Kan. 1, 15, 61 P.3d 68 (2002).

g. The use of a warrant eliminated any implication of Riley v. California

The defendant's reliance upon *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 189 L.Ed 430 (2014), is unfounded. *Riley* held that a warrant must be obtained to search a cellphone seized incident to arrest. *Riley* 134 S. Ct. at 2495. The defendant asserts that the holding in *Riley* "must apply regardless of how the phone is seized, by warrant or by search incident to an arrest." (Appellant's brief pg. 21). But even assuming that the warrant requirement in *Riley* would apply to a search not incident to arrest, this does not further the defendant's case. As set forth above, the phone <u>was</u> searched pursuant to a warrant that not only authorized the seizure of the phone, but also the search of the contents of the same. The holding in *Riley* is simply not implicated.

h. The good faith exception would cure any defect

United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 908-09, 913, 104 S. Ct. 3405, 82 L. Ed. 2d 677 (1984), held the exclusionary rule should not be applied in cases where law enforcement officers relied in good faith on a signed warrant in conducting a search. The Kansas Supreme Court has approved application of the good-faith exception to the exclusionary rule in *State v. Hoeck*, 284 Kan. 441, 463, 163 P.3d 252 (2007), stating:

"We therefore conclude that the holding in *Leon* applies in Kansas without modification: The Fourth Amendment exclusionary rule should not be applied to bar the use of evidence obtained by officers acting in reasonable reliance on a search warrant issued by a detached and neutral magistrate but ultimately found to be invalid, except where: (1) the magistrate issuing the warrant was deliberately misled by false information; (2) the magistrate wholly abandoned his or her detached or neutral role; (3) there was so little indicia of probable cause contained in the affidavit that it was entirely unreasonable for the officers to believe the warrant was valid, or (4) the warrant so lacked specificity that officers could not determine the place to be searched or the items to be seized." *Hoeck*, 284 Kan. at 463-64.

If, for some reason, the search warrant 13MR143 could be construed as not authorizing the search of the contents of the phone, then the good-faith exception of *Leon* should apply and the text messages collected from the phone should not be suppressed. Search warrant 13MR143 certainly appears to authorize a search of the contents of the phone, and law enforcement officers would be reasonable in acting upon reliance upon the same.

Issue II It was unnecessary to re-*Mirandize* the defendant a second time before continuing an interview with him later in the same day, and the defendant did not unequivocally invoke his right to remain silent.

a. Background

The defendant was arrested by the Kansas City, Kansas, police department at approximately 5:30 a.m. on September 11th, 2013. (R. 21, 33). Detective Patricia Giordano and Detective Brek Jager contacted the defendant in an interview room at the Kansas City Kansas Police Department at approximately 11:20 a.m. on that day. (R. 21, 33, 37). No one had interviewed the defendant between his arrest and the detectives contacting him. (R. 21, 36 – 37). Detective Giordano informed the defendant that before they could

interview him she must first inform him of his *Miranda* rights. (R. 21, 40). The defendant insisted that he knew his rights and began to correctly recite those rights back to the detective. (R. 21, 40). The defendant finally agreed to stop and allow Detective Giordano to read him his *Miranda* rights. (R. 21, 40). Detective Giordano read the defendant each right by using a written *Miranda* waiver, and the defendant initialed his understanding of each right by placing his initials after each right. (R. 21, 41, Ex. 8). At 11:25 a.m. the defendant signed the *Miranda* form and agreed to be interviewed. (R. 21, 42, Ex. 8).

During the interview, Detective Jager questioned the defendant about the last time he saw the victim, John Burroughs. (R. 21, 65). The following exchange took place:

Q: [by Detective Jager]: When was the last time you saw John?

A: [by defendant]: I ain't seen John in almost two years.

Q: Where does John live at?

A: I don't know. The last place I (sic) John to live was on fucking Third and Webster, you know what I mean? Last place I know –

Q: You said when was the last time you saw John?

A: A couple years ago.

Q: And where was he at?

A: Shit, at fucking whose house was he at? It has been two fucking years.

Q: So you -

A: If I could remember every fucking detail of my fucking life for two fucking years, I could tell you every fucking thing about Friday, I can't.

Q: Can I just – I have one question.

A: I have a fucking memory problem since I got shot in the fucking...

Q: Anthony, Anthony, let me ask you a couple of questions. So you've never been to John's current residence?

A: So there is no reason for your DNA to be in there?

Q: No. (R. 8, Ex. 8, 65 – 66).

The Kansas City interview with the defendant lasted approximately an hour and a half. (R. 21, 42). While the interview was being conducted, a search was taking place at the defendant's home. (R. 21, 42). Prior to leaving, Detective Giordano informed the defendant of the search and asked if they could re-contact him when after the search was completed. The defendant agreed that the detectives could re-contact him. (R. 21, 41).

After the detectives left, the defendant was transported to Junction City, Kansas, police department. (R. 21, 43). At 7:45 p.m. that same evening, Detective Giordano

returned and again made contact with the defendant. (R. 21, 43 - 44). It had been six hours

and fifty minutes since the interview in Kansas City. (R. 21, 45). This time, Detective

Giordano was accompanied by Detective Josh Brown. (R. 21, 44). Upon entering the

interview room, Detective Giordano reminded the defendant that she said she would be

back after the search and now she was back. (R. 21, 45). The defendant appeared to be

alert, conscious, and capable of making rational decisions. (R. 21, 45). The defendant was

not re-advised of his Miranda warnings. (R. 21, 45).

Detective Giordano advised the defendant that a gun had been found during the

search of his home. (R. 8, Ex. 8, 3). The defendant admitted that the gun was the murder

weapon, but denied that he was the shooter. (R. 8, Ex. 8, 4). He claimed that he had the

murder weapon because he had went to Kansas City and picked it up. (R. 8, Ex. 8, 6). The

defendant refused to say who he got the murder weapon from. (R. 8, Ex. 8, 6). During the

exchange about the gun the following occurred:

Q: [by Detective Giordano]: I just want to hear your side of the story, don't you –

A: [by defendant]: I did not shoot this man. Believe what you want.

Q: [by Detective Brown]: What did you do?

A: I got the murder weapon –

Q: What did you do?

14

A: I went and got the fucking murder weapon.

Q: Tell me – tell me how it played out.

A: I don't want to talk about it now. (R. 8, Ex. 8, 7).

The defendant filed three pre-trial motions relating to his statements to the police. The first was a Motion to Suppress the Kansas City interview claiming that his waiver of *Miranda* was invalid because he was tired and that his memory was impaired from a lack of sleep and a previous gunshot injury (R. 2, 7-9). The other two motions related to the Junction City interview. Accused Filing #12 claimed that the Junction City interview was invalid because a second *Miranda* warning was not given prior to commencing the interview. (R. 1, 120 - 122). The second, Accused Filing #12a, claimed that the defendant invoked his *Miranda* rights when he stated to law enforcement "I don't want to talk about it now." (R. 2, 20)¹.

A hearing on these motions was held on February 4th, 2015. In denying the motion to suppress the Kansas City interview, the court found that the defendant knew and understood his rights, agreed to waive those rights and made a free and voluntary statement. (R. 21, 75 - 76). The court specifically rejected the claim of a memory problem citing the example of the defendant reciting his *Miranda* rights to the detectives by memory before

¹ The appellant brief incorrectly states that the defendant filed a motion for a *Jackson v*. *Denno* hearing. (Appellant's brief pg. 23). In fact, it was the State that filed a *Jackson v*. *Denno* motion requesting that the court find the defendant's statements were freely and voluntarily made. (R. 1, 103)

the rights were even given to him. (R. 21, 75). In rejecting the motion to suppress the Junction City interview, the court found that that interview to be a continuation of the first interview, specifically citing the detective's statements that they would return after the search was concluded. (R. 21, 76). In regards to the defendant's statement "I don't want to talk about it now" the court found that the defendant was not invoking his right to remain silent and that a reasonable reading of the interview leads to a conclusion that the defendant was merely stating that he did not want to talk about the gun at that point. (R. 21, 76).

b. Preservation

Although the defendant's brief mentions the Kansas City interview, it does not claim that the waiver of *Miranda* at the beginning of the Kansas City interview was invalid or that the Kansas City interview was involuntary. This issue, therefore, should be deemed waived and abandoned. *State v. Boleyn*, 297 Kan. 610, 633, 303 P.3d 680 (2013) (an issue not briefed by an appellant is deemed waived and abandoned).

c. Standard of Review

A determination that a statement was freely, voluntarily, and intelligently given will be upheld if there is substantial competent evidence to support such a conclusion. In making the factual review, the appellate courts will not reweigh the evidence and will give deference to the factual findings of the trial court. The legal conclusions drawn from those facts is subject to de novo review. *State v. Cline*, 295 Kan. 104, 283 P.3d 194 (2012).

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